IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67, 334

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Martin County, Florida. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will designate the appropriate portions of the record:

"R" Record on Appeal

"T" Transcript of Trial Proceedings

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment charging Appellant, a sixteen year old brain damaged boy, with First Degree Murder was filed on September 23, 1977. This is the third time Appellant has been before this Court for this crime. Following Appellant's first trial, this Court reversed his conviction of sentence of death because the procedure set out in Section 918.017 (1), Florida Statutes (1977), requiring bifurcation of trials when insanity was asserted, had been declared unconstitutional while Morgan's Appeal was pending. Morgan v. State, 392 So.2d 1315 (Fla. 1981). This court remanded Appellant's case for a new trial. The Appellant's second trial was held in December, 1981, and the Appellant was again convicted of the crime and sentenced to death. Appellant duly filed his Appeal from that conviction and the sentence of death. This Honorable Court, in concluding that the trial Court erred in precluding Appellant from raising the insanity defense, reversed the conviction and remanded the case for a new trial on July 12, 1984. (R 228). The Mandate was issued by this Court on August 17, 1984. (R 227)

On August 27, 1984, the trial Court appointed the Office of the Public Defender for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit to represent the Defendant. (R 239) On September 5, 1984, the Office of the Public Defender filed a Motion to Withdraw as Counsel (R 245). The Motion to Withdraw was granted and an Order of Appointment of Private Counsel was entered on September 10, 1984, at which time Robert R. Makemson, Esq., was appointed to represent the Defendant in this cause (R 249). The Appellant filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on the Defense of Insanity on December 13, 1984 (R 256). The Appellant also filed a Motion for

a Change of Venue on December 13, 1984 (R 257). Appellant additionally filed three Motions entitled Motion to Preclude Death Qualification of Jurors, Motion to Postpone Challenges for Cause of Death-Scruple Jurors Until the Penalty Phase, and a Motion to Preclude Challenges for Cause of Death-Scruple Jurors. (R 266-271) These three Motions were denied by the trial Court by appropriate Orders entered on February 12, 1985 (R 277-281). The Appellant's Motion for a Change of Venue was also denied by an Order of the trial Court entered on February 12, 1985 (R 283). The Appellant filed an Amended Notice of Intent to Rely on the Defense of Insanity on May 1, 1985 (R 292). Thereafter, the Appellant filed a Second Amended Notice of Intent to Rely on the Defense of Insanity (R 205). Appellant filed a Second Motion for a Change of Venue on May 17, 1985 (R 309-311). The Appellant filed an Amended Second Motion for a Change of Venue on May 20, 1985 (R 322-328). The trial Court entered its Order denying the Appellant's Motion for a Change of Venue on May 28, 1985 (R 345).

On May 28, 1985, both the Appellant and the Appellee announced ready for trial and the selection of the jury commenced (T-3). During the Voir Dire on May 28, 1985, juror Franklin was questioned by both the Appellant and the Appellee as to her ability to render an advisory recommendation as to the imposition of the death penalty or life imprisonment should the Appellant be found guilty of the crime with which he was charged (T 249-258). The Appellee moved to excuse juror Franklin for cause (T 257). The Appellant objected to the said Motion (T 258). The trial Court granted the Motion for Cause and juror Franklin was excused (T 258). During the process of selecting the jury; juror Blanks, while sitting in open Court, in response to a question

from the Court as to whether he or another juror knew anyone involved in this case, answered "Yes. At the time he was convicted, I was in Court at the time". Juror Blanks, in response to another question by the Court as to whether or not he knew James Morgan, answered "Not personally, but at the time he was convicted, I was in Court". Subsequently, again in response to a question by the Court as to whether he knew anything about the case other than what he was told in the courtroom, answered "Only the time I was in the Court at the time". (T 545-548). At that time, counsel for the Appellant informed the Court that he had a motion to make. He further asked the Court and informed the Court that the record would reflect the statements of Mr. Blanks in front of the jury. Appellant then made a Motion for Mistrial based upon the statements of juror Blanks in front of the jury. The trial Court denied the Motion for a Mistrial (T 551).

The twelve jurors were selected and sworn on May 28, 1985 (T 686). Two alternate jurors were selected and sworn in (T 774).

The trial Judge gave his preliminary instructions to the jury (T 800).

The Appellee and Appellant gave their respective opening arguments (T 802-814).

The Appellee presented all of its evidence to the jury and the Appellee rested (T 1158). The Appellant filed a Motion for Judgment of Acquittal (T 1161). The trial Court denied the Appellant's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal (T 1162). Before the Appellant commenced presentation of his side of the case, the Appellee entered a Motion to preclude the Appellant's two expert psychiatric witnesses from testifying as to the contents of any statements the Appellant had made to them while under hypnosis and to further preclude the Appellant from offering into evidence the testimony of its two expert psychiatric witnesses as to their opinions or conclusions as to the defendant's insanity if their opinions or

conclusions were based on any statement made by the Appellant to the two psychiatric expert witnesses while under hypnosis. The trial Court entered its Order sustaining the Appellee's objection, thereby granting the Appellee's Motion and precluding the Appellant from offering into evidence any statements made by the Appellant which were procured during hypnosis. The trial Court further entered its Order precluding the Appellant from offering into evidence the testimony of its two psychiatric experts as to their opinions or conclusions if they were based upon the Appellant's statements to them while under hypnosis. The Appellant objected to the Court's ruling for the record and counsel for the Appellant stated on the record that, based upon the Court's rulings, he was precluded from calling either of his two psychiatric experts as witnesses on behalf of the Appellant (T 1206). The Appellant was allowed to proffer into evidence the testimony of his two expert psychiatric witnesses in the absense of the jury (T 1210-1348). Counsel for the Appellant further stated for the record that, based upon the Court's prior ruling, the Appellant would offer no further testimony or evidence on its behalf and that the Appellant would rest its case (T 1349-1355).

The Court then entered its Order denying the Appellant's Motion for a Judgement of Acquittal at the end of the entire case (T 1386). The Appellant and the Appellee gave their closing arguments (T 1397-1405). The jury instructions were presented to the jury (T 1422). The jury rendered its verdict of guilty as to the crime charged (T 1445-1446). The Appellee admitted and took the position that the Appellant was entitled to present evidence to the jury during the penalty phase as to that testimony which was previously precluded from being offered into evidence by the trial Court's prior ruling (T 1476).

The Appellant announced that it would rely on the evidence presented during the guilt or innocence phase of the trial as to the aggravating and mitigating factors which were to be considered by the jury in the penalty phase (T 1497). The Appellant presented its evidence as to the mitigating factors to be considered by the jury by calling its two expert psychiatric witnesses (T 1498-1648). The Appellant's mother, Alice Morgan, testified on behalf of the Appellant (T 1685). The Appellant testified on his own behalf (T 1689). The defense rested its case as to the mitigating factors to be considered by the jury (T 1697). The Appellee presented evidence in rebuttal (T 1698). The Appellee concluded its presentation of the evidence in rebuttal on the penalty phase of the trial (T 1748). The Appellant and the Appellee gave their closing arguments to the jury as to the penalty phase (T 1758-1773). The Court instructed the jury as to the law on the three aggravating factors proposed by the Appellee and the four mitigating factors proposed by the Appellant for its consideration as to the advisory opinion on the sentence which it would recommend to the Court (T 1793-1795). The jury deliberated as to its advisory opinion and recommendation (T 1799). The jury returned with its verdict and in a vote of 7 to 5 advised and recommended to the Court that it impose a sentence of death upon the Appellant (T 1802). The trial Court, finding three aggravating factors and two mitigating factors, imposed the sentence of death upon the Appellant (T 1809). The trial Court entered its Findings of Fact by the Court on June 7, 1985 (R 391-394).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The instant case involves the death of Gertrude Trbovich on June 6, 1977. The trial was divided into two phases. Phase one involved the guilt or innocence of Appellant. Phase two involved the advisory sentencing proceedings. The selection of the jury commenced on May 28, 1985. During the process of selecting the jury, prospective juror Blanks, in response to a question by the Court as to whether or not he knew anyone involved in the case or was he related to anyone involved in the case, stated "At the time he was convicted, I was in Court at that time". Then again, in response to a question by the Court as to if he knew James Morgan, he stated "Not personally, but at the time he was convicted, I was in Court". Thereafter. again, in response to a question by the Court as to whether he knew anything about this case other than what he was told in Court, juror Blanks responded "Only the time I was in the Court at the time". (T 545-548) the Appellant made a Motion for a Mistrial based upon the statements of prospective juror Blanks which were made in open Court before the other prospective jurors (T 549-550). The trial Court denied the Motion for a Mistrial (T 551). Subsequently, during the continued process of selecting the jury, prospective juror Franklin was questioned by counsel for both the Appellant and the Appellee as to her death qualifications. (T 249-256) The State moved for cause to excuse prospective juror Franklin (T 257). Counsel for the Appellant objected (T 258). The Court granted the Motion to excuse prospective juror Franklin for cause (T 258).

After the twelve jurors and two alternate jurors were selected and sworn in, the trial commenced on May 28, 1985. The State rested its case after the presentation of its witnesses (T 1158). The Appellant moved for a

Judgment of Acquittal which was denied by the trial Court (T 1161-1162). Prior to the presentation of evidence and witnesses by the Appellant, the State filed a Motion to preclude the Appellant from offering into evidence the testimony of its two expert psychiatric witnesses, Dr. Caddy and Dr. Kosen. The Appellee asked the Court to enter an Order precluding either of these two expert psychiatric witnesses from testifying as to any statements which the Appellant, James Morgan, made to them during hypnosis and for a further Order precluding the Appellant from offering into evidence the testimony of these two expert psychiatric witnesses if their opinions and conclusions as to the sanity or insanity of the Defendant were based upon the statements made by the Appellant to these two said experts while under hypnosis (T 1163). Court sustained the Appellee's objections and entered an Order precluding the Appellant from offering into evidence the testimony of its two psychiatric expert witnesses as to any statements made by the Appellant to these two said witnesses while under hypnosis and further precluding the Appellant from offering into evidence the testimony of its two psychiatric expert witnesses as to their opinions or conclusions as to the insanity of the Defendant because they were based upon the information which they obtained while the Appellant was under hypnosis (T 1189) Counsel for the Appellant stated for the record that he could not call either of its two psychiatric expert witnesses based upon the Court's ruling (T 1206). The trial Court allowed the Appellant to proffer into evidence, in the absence of the jury, testimony of its two psychiatric expert witnesses.

Dr. Caddy testified as to his qualifications of an expert. Dr. Caddy was proffered as an expert witness and the Court entered its ruling qualifying Dr. Caddy as an expert witness in clinical psychology and in the use of hypnosis (T 1218). Dr. Caddy testified that he met with the Appellant on three occasions

on April 6, 1985, April 19, 1985, and April 28, 1985 (T 1221). Dr. Caddy testified that during the first session on April 6, 1985, the Appellant indicated to him that he did not know what had caused the death of Mrs. Trbovich. He further testified that the Appellant told him that he was not involved in Mrs. Trbovich's death and basically otherwise denied any involvement (T 1226). Dr. Caddy testified that based upon information which he had obtained from the police reports or a summary of the police procedures that had been filed in the investigation of the case, he determined that the Appellant was not being truthful with him (T 1227). Dr. Caddy testified that he left the Appellant alone and that he returned after 10 minutes (T 1230). Dr. Caddy then testified that he again questioned the Appellant as to his involvement in the death of Mrs. Trbovich and asked the Appellant if he was ready to reveal to this witness the facts as they had occurred. Dr. Caddy testified that the Appellant informed him that he had been dishonest with him because he was scared and also because on multiple occasions defense attorneys had told him not to reveal material. Dr. Caddy then went on to testify that the Appellant informed him that he was present in Mrs. Trbovich's house on June 6, 1977, and that he remembered striking Mrs. Trbovich with a wrench. He informed Dr. Caddy that he did so because he believed that Mrs. Trbovich could probably smell the odor of an alcoholic beverage or of gasoline on his breath and that he believed Mrs. Trbovich was writing a letter to his mother to tell her about his drinking. The Appellant informed Dr. Caddy that he became angry and that he decided that he had to stop Mrs. Trbovich from writing to his mother. He then approached the victim from the rear and he hit her with the wrench several times (T 1236). Dr. Caddy then testified that the Appellant was very vague about the whole process, but that he remembers

going back over to see the victim to determine whether or not she was breathing and that he was afraid that he might have killed her (T 1237). Dr. Caddy then testified that the Appellant informed him that he then cleaned himself up and then left the house in fear (T 1237). Dr. Caddy testified that the Appellant was not able to report any of the other details involved (T 1238). Dr. Caddy then testified that during the second session he performed various tests upon the Appellant and that he determined the Defendant to have a verbal scale I.Q. test result of 75 and a performance scale test result of 92. Dr. Caddy testified that although the test results in themselves do not prove brain damage at that point, that he then performed various other tests, including the Rorschach Ink Blot Test and the Thematic Appreciation Test. Dr. Caddy testified that as a result of these tests, he determined the Appellant to be brain damaged or brain impaired (T 1242). Dr. Caddy testified that at the end of the first session he did not choose to attempt, nor did he reach a conclusion as to whether or not the Appellant was same or insame at the time of the killing of Mrs. Trbovich (T 1243). then testified that after the second session, he was able to say that, in general, on June 6, 1977, that the Appellant was same. He further testified, however, that he was not willing at that point to commit himself to a definitive position on the Appellant's insanity. Dr. Caddy further testified that he determined that it was appropriate at that point to evaluate the Appellant under conditions of clinical hypnosis in order to determine whether or not the Appellant was same or insame at the time that he killed Mrs. Trbovich (T 1245). Dr. Caddy testified that during the third visit with the Appellant which occurred at the Martin County Detention Center on April 28, 1985, that he was present along with Dr. Kosen. Dr. Caddy testified as to the process involved

in placing the Appellant under hypnosis and that in a relatively nonthreatening way, he questioned the Appellant as to his life, starting at the age of four (T 1247). Dr. Caddy then testified that the Appellant explained to him the truth as to what occurred in Mrs. Trbovich's house on June 6, 1977. Dr. Caddy testified that the Appellant informed him that he had been drinking beer prior to entering Mrs. Trbovich's house. The Appellant told Dr. Caddy that he went into Mrs. Trbovich's house in order to call his father and that when he couldn't reach his father, he became exceedingly frustrated and angry. Dr. Caddy testified that the Appellant informed him that he became angry at Mrs. Trbovich because he thought that she was going to write a letter to inform his mother that he had been drinking. Dr. Caddy testified that the Appellant walked toward Mrs. Trbovich and beat her with a crescent wrench across the back of the head. The Appellant picked up a vase and slammed it across the back of Mrs. Trbovich's head. He then picked up a knife and stabbed her, but he was unable to say how many times he had stabbed her. The Appellant ripped the blouse off of Mrs. Trbovich up over her breast and pulled down her clothing to reveal the lower part of her body. The Appellant then bit Mrs. Trbovich on the breast. The Appellant placed his finger in or around her vaginal area. The Appellant then proceeded to clean up the mess and took Mrs. Trbovich's purse and left the house (T 1251-1256). Dr. Caddy testified that the hypnotic session lasted four hours and at the end of the session, the Defendant was soaking wet from sweat (T 1255-1266). Dr. Caddy then testified that in his expert opinion, that at the time and date of the killing of Mrs. Trbovich, that the Appellant did have a mental infirmity, defect or disease. He further testified that the mental infirmity or disease or defect caused the Appellant

to lose his ability to understand or reason accurately. He further stated that, based upon the Appellant's loss of ability to understand or reason accurately, that the Appellant did not know the nature or consequences of his acts. Dr. Caddy testified that he believed the Defendant did not intend to kill Mrs. Trbovich. He testified that the Appellant failed to have the capacity to appreciate that the nature of his actions would inevitably lead to Mrs. Trbovich's death. Dr. Caddy testified that in his expert opinion, the Appellant did not have a conscious pre-meditated intent to kill (T 1263-1264). Dr. Caddy concluded his testimony.

The Appellant asked the Court to reconsider its position and the Court denied the Motion to Reconsider and restated its Order (T 1283).

Counsel for the Appellant informed the Court that he intended to call Dr. Kosen to proffer his testimony out of the presence of the jury, but that it was his intention to rest his case based upon the Court's prior ruling (T 1284). The Appellant then called Dr. Dennis F. Kosen as a witness (T 1294). Dr. Kosen testified as to his qualifications as an expert. The trial Court ruled that Dr. Kosen was an expert in forensic psychiatry and hypnosis (T 1304). Dr. Kosen testified that he was not capable of forming a conclusion or opinion as to the Defendant's insanity or his premeditated intent to kill Mrs. Trbovich without making reference to the third hypnotic session (T 1305). Dr. Kosen testified that he was involved with two session with the Defendant, the first session occurring on April 19, 1985 (T 1306). Dr. Kosen testified that the Appellant informed him as to his use of alcohol and that he was prone to sniffing gasoline from an early age (T 1307-1309). Dr. Kosen testified that the Appellant made a statement to him as to the events which occurred on June 6, 1977. Dr. Kosen testified that the Appellant informed him that he had

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