# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES A. MORGAN,

Appellant,

Vs.

CASE NO. 67,334

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER ROSSIN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Appellant's motions for change of venue without prejudice to reconsider the motion if the voir dire process established that an impartial jury panel could not be found in Stuart. The voir dire, with the added protection of individual interviewing of any potential juror with prior knowledge about the case outside the presence of other potential jurors, provided Appellant with an impartial jury panel. Appellant did not use all his peremptory challenges.
- II. Any evidence based upon a hypnotic session could only have been admitted if the party seeking to introduce it established its reliability, under the pre-Bundy II case law. Appellant failed to establish the reliability of the session, and the State's objection to the evidence was properly sustained. Moreover, Bundy II, which Appellee asserts is applicable sub judice, established a per se rule of inadmissility of evidence based upon a hypnotic session.
- III. There was substantial competent evidence from which the jury could have found premeditation on Appellant's part, and the conviction is further supportable under a felony murder theory.
- IV. Since prospective juror Franklin stated that her feelings regarding the death penalty would substantially impair her ability to function as a juror, she was properly stricken for cause.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- V. Appellant's motion for a mistrial was properly denied since a questioning of the jury panel showed that it was not affected by the comment by prospective juror Blanks that he had been in court when "he had been convicted before." Further, since Appellant objected to an interviewing of the jury panel about the comment, he has not preserved the issue for appellate review.
- VI. Death qualification of a capital jury panel has been previously approved by this Court many times. The process was also recently reapproved by the United States Supreme Court.
- VII. The imposition of the death penalty upon Appellant did not establish cruel and unusual punishment, and the sentence is supported by a proportionality review and by the aggravating and mitigating factors found by the trial court, which included the mitigating factor of Appellant's youth at the time of the murder.

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR CHANGE OF VENUE.

Appellant alleges that the trial court improperly denied his motions for change of venue because a "confession" was featured in the local newspapers. Appellee asserts that there was no necessity for a change of venue, and that the motion was properly denied.

Appellant relies on the opinion of this Court in Oliver v. State, 250 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1971) as authority for the granting of his motions. However, Oliver does not control the case at bar. As previously noted by this Court, the holding in "Oliver has been restricted and refined." Straight v. State, 397 So.2d 903, 906 (Fla.), cert. den. 454 U.S. 1022, 102 S.Ct. 556, 70 L.Ed.2d 418 (1981), rehearing den. 454 U.S. 1165, 102 S.Ct. 1043, 71 L.Ed.2d 323 (1982). See e.g., Hoy v. State, 353 So.2d 826 (Fla. 1977), cert. den., 439 U.S. 920, 99 S.Ct. 293, 58 L.Ed.2d 265 (1978) and Dobbert v. State, 328 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1976).

Oliver, supra, involved the murder of a white by a black during a period of racial unrest. The confession was a "feature" of local news media coverage. The crime occurred in a relatively small community with only one newspaper. The situation sub judice is in sharp contrast.

Stuart may be a small community, but it is not isolated as is Tallahassee. It is in close proximity to the major metropolitan areas of West Palm Beach, Fort Lauderdale and Miami. The members of the venire panel revealed that they were readers of not only the local Stuart paper, but also the Palm Beach Post, the Miami Herald and the New York Times. Moreover, as found by the trial court, the articles cited in the motions were not "featured" in the local media (R 345).

Further, the trial court bent over backwards to assure that Appellant was not adversely affected by pretrial publicity. First of all, he denied Appellant's motion for change of venue without prejudice to have it heard again if it became apparent that impartial jurors could not be found. Secondly, the court arranged for individual voir dire of any members of the venire who expressed prior knowledge about the case. All of the jurors who sat at the trial either had no prior knowledge of the case or indicated that despite their prior knowledge they could be fair and impartial in trying the case. Moreover, the propriety of the denial of the motion was supported by the fact that during the voir dire process most of the panel indicated no knowledge of the case.

Appellant did not have any difficulty finding an impartial jury panel. In fact, he only exercised seven of his ten peremptory challenges (T 666, 686). If there were a problem with excessive pretrial publicity, then it would stand to reason that Appellant would have needed to use all of his challenges. Appellant was not prejudiced

by the location of his trial. <u>See McCaskill v. State</u>, 344 So.2d 1276, 1278 (Fla. 1977) and <u>Straight</u>, <u>supra</u>.

of course, an application for change of venue is addressed to the trial court's sound discretion. <u>Davis</u>

<u>v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 67 (Fla.), <u>cert. den.</u> \_\_\_U.S. \_\_\_,

105 S.Ct. 3540, 87 L.Ed.2d 663 (1985). Since all the jurors who served on Appellant's case indicated that they could put any prior knowledge aside, and serve with open minds, there has been no abuse of that discretion in the case at bar. <u>Id.</u>, 461 So.2d at 69; <u>Dobbert</u>, <u>supra</u>.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN SUSTAINING THE STATE'S OBJECTION TO EXPERT TESTI-MONY BY DR. CADDY AND DR. KOSON AS TO APPELLANT'S SANITY BASED UPON A HYPNOTIC SESSION.

During trial, Appellant attempted to introduce testimony from a psychologist and psychiatrist that in their opinion, Appellant was insane at the time of the offense. However, both experts were unable to reach any conclusion regarding Appellant's sanity without relying upon a hypnotic session that they had conducted with Appellant on April 28, 1985 (T 1220, 1341). The State objected to any testimony by the doctors about statements made by Appellant during the hypnotic session, and to any conclusions drawn by the experts based on the session. This was an oral objection, not a written motion (T 1163). There is no requirement that objections to evidence be made in writing in the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. See e.g., 3.190, Fla.R.Crim.P. State relied on Rodriguez v. State, 327 So.2d 903 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), Bundy v. State, 455 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1984) [hereafter: Bundy I], and Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1985)[hereafter: Bundy II].

Prior to the <u>Bundy II</u> opinion, the law in Florida regarding the admissibility of hypnotically induced testimony was that the evidence was admissible on a case-by-case basis.

<u>Brown v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 76, 90 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Key v. State</u>, 430 So.2d 909 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Rodriguez</u>,

<u>supra</u>. The issue was not specifically addressed in <u>Bundy I</u>,
<u>supra</u>. In <u>Brown</u>, the first District Court of Appeal stated:

Although the principle of hypnosis may itself be reliable and thus probative, our examination of the problems inherent in the process of hypnosis reveals that admissibility of such testimony will hinge on a caseby-case examination of the technique used to hypnotize the witness. The examination of the particular procedure employed in order to determine its reliability interrelates with the second prong of the relevancy test: legal relevancy. Due to the peculiar nature of hypnosis and its inherent potential pitfalls, the admissibility of hypnosis, as a tool for refreshing a witness' memory, is not so much a question of the reliability of the principle of hypnosis as it is a question of the reliability of the particular technique or procedure used in a given case. Hence, the probative value of hypnosis rests on both the reliability of the principle and the technique or procedure employed, both of which are inseparably intertwined. court must first evaluate such evidence pursuant to Section 90.403, Florida Statutes, by weighing its probative value in an effort to decide if its admissibility would be substantially outweighed by dangers of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misguidance of the jury, or needless presentation of the issues.

Brown, 426 So.2d at 90
(footnote omitted)

The court further held that the burden is on the party seeking to introduce the evidence to demonstrate that the evidence of the hypnosis session will not cause undue prejudice or mislead the jury. Id., 426 So.2d at 90-91. The court in

Brown went into great detail as to what safeguards should be considered in determining the reliability of the hypnotic session. In the instant case, the trial court correctly concluded that Appellant had not established the reliability of the hypnotic session (T 1189). The trial court, after a proffer of the testimony by Dr. Caddy stated that it was "even firmer in [its] opinion" that the motion should be denied (T 1283).

There was no record of any sort made of the hypnotic session. This alone prevented the trial court from making a determination regarding the reliability of the hypnotic session. There was no showing of a lack of suggestiveness. This was a very important safeguard which was ignored in this case. The trial court made its renewed ruling based upon the testimony of the doctors regarding the procedures utilized. Under the criteria of Brown and Key, the session was not sufficiently reliable to permit the introduction of statements made by Appellant during the session, or of conclusions of sanity by the experts based upon those statements.

Dr. Caddy hypnotized Appellant with Dr. Koson present (T 1247). Thus, the safeguard that only the subject and hypnotist be present was not adhered to. The process took approximately four hours (T 1246). There was no record of what questions were asked or the manner in which they were conducted. The session was conducted by a psychologist and psychiatrist hired by the defense. As such, the session was not conducted by a "neutral and detached hypnotist" as recommended by Brown. Brown, supra, 426 So.2d at 91. The

session was conducted in the sheriff's office at the Martin County jail (T 1256). This was hardly the "independent location, such as a doctor's office, free from a coercive or suggestive atmosphere" suggested by <a href="https://example.com/Brown">Brown</a>. <a href="https://example.com/Id., 426 So.2d at 92.">Id., 426 So.2d at 92</a>.

Further, there is no independent corroboration of the statements made by Appellant during the session. In response to the question "Did you want to kill her"?, Appellant stated "I don't know, but I wanted to hurt her." This is in sharp contrast with his statement made to a psychiatrist in a hypnotic session in 1981 that "I must kill her." (R 313, p. 12, T 1276-1277). The hypnotic session at issue here was conducted eight years after the murder. Under the pre-Bundy II standards, the testimony was properly excluded. Brown, supra; Key, supra; Rodriguez, supra.

Moreover, the evidence from, and expert opinions based on, the hypnotic session are clearly inadmissible under this Court's ruling in <u>Bundy II</u>. In <u>Bundy II</u>, this Court established a <u>per se</u> rule that no testimony based upon a hypnotic session would be admissible in Florida courts.

<u>Bundy</u>, <u>supra</u>, 471 So.2d at 18. The hypnotic session in the instant case took place on April 28, 1985. The trial began on May 28, 1985. <u>Bundy II</u> was issued on May 9, 1985 and published in the <u>Florida Law Weekly</u> on May 17, 1985. The opinion became final upon the denial of rehearing on July 11, 1985. Thus, although the hypnotic session took place

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 10 F.L.W. 269

prior to the issuance of <u>Bundy II</u>, both Appellant and Appellee, as well as the trial court, were well-aware of the opinion at trial.

In declaring that the holding in <u>Bundy II</u> would be prospective only, this Court stated:

We hold that any posthypnotic testimony is inadmissible in a criminal case if the hypnotic session took place after this case becomes final. We further hold that any conviction presently in the appeals process in which there was hypnotically refreshed testimony will be examined on a case-by-case basis to determine if there was sufficient evidence, excluding the tainted testimony, to uphold the conviction. We believe this holding balances the competing interests and is the most equitable place to draw the line.

Id., 471 So.2d at 18-19.

Appellant's reading of this language that since the session took place prior to <u>Bundy II</u> becoming final, the admission of the evidence is allowed a strained one. Although this Court did not address the question of cases in the position of having had the session prior to the opinion becoming final, and prior to trial, it did state that cases presently on appeal at the time of the opinion must be reviewed to see whether there was sufficient evidence without the tainted testimony. This implies that if Appellant's case were on appeal instead of awaiting trial and the testimony had been admitted, the appellate court would have to review

the case to see if the admission of the evidence created reversible error. For Appellant to suggest that because he was merely awaiting trial, he could slip the testimony in, is contrary to the obvious intent of <u>Bundy II</u>.

As a general rule, it is decisional law in effect at the time of an appeal that governs a case, even if there is a change in that law. Lowe v. Price, 437 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1983). Bundy II and its rule of prospective application creates the same situation as Tascano v. State, 393 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1980), and <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984). This Court has held in both instances that the prospective changes in the law apply to all cases in the "pipeline" where the issue has been properly preserved. Spurlock v. State, 420 So.2d 875 (Fla. 1982); State v. Safford, 11 F.L.W. 117 (Fla. March 20, 1986). This Court has also held in a similar situation that the United States Supreme Court decision in Miranda 2 is not to be applied retroactively, but does apply to a situation where the interrogation took place prior to the issuance of the opinion, but trial began after the decision. State v. Statewright, 300 So. 2d 674, 676 (Fla. 1974). Thus, <u>Bundy II</u> requires that the sustaining of the State's objection to the evidence based on the hypnosis session be affirmed.

Appellant's argument that the hypnotic session in the case at bar was merely for "investigative" purposes and

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).

was thus admissible misinterprets this Court's holding. In <u>Bundy II</u>, this Court stated that hypnosis could be used for investigative purposes, and any <u>corroborating</u> evidence would be admissible. <u>Bundy</u>, <u>supra</u>, 471 So.2d at 19. However, the hypnotic evidence itself would not be admissible. <u>Id</u>.

Appellee would further point out that the testimony based upon the hypnotic session was introduced during the penalty phase of Appellant's trial. The jury came back with a recommendation for the death penalty, despite the evidence. The testimony of Dr. Caddy and Dr. Koson was impeached during cross-examination, and was challenged by Dr. Cheshire, a psychiatrist, who found Appellant sane at the time of the offense (T 1701). There was a question whether the doctors were able to find Appellant insane at the time of the offense under Florida law, since they were relying on the irresistable impulse doctrine. Thus, if the evidence had been admitted at the guilt phase, it is questionable that the result would have been any different.

The hypnotic session was not "reliable" within the meaning of the pre-Bundy II cases. Thus, the evidence was properly excluded from the trial. Under the per se inadmissibility rule of Bundy II, there is no question that the evidence was properly excluded. This exercise of discretion by the trial court was entirely proper, and must be upheld by this Court.

# POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL SINCE PREMEDITATION WAS PROVED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT, AND THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION UNDER A FELONY MURDER THEORY.

Appellant argues that the state did not prove premeditation beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellee maintains the sufficiency of the evidence to support Appellant's conviction of premeditated murder, and in the alternative, his conviction of first-degree murder since the murder occurred in the course of a completed or attempted sexual battery.

Under Florida law, a motion for a directed verdict of acquittal should be denied unless there is no legally sufficient evidence on which to base a verdict of guilt.

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